# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-10-2014

# Hansen v. Denney Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42285

#### **Statement of the Case**

Nature of the Case- On March 12, 2014 petitioner applied to the Secretary of State's office to be included on the 2014 General election ballot for the position of State Representative Seat B in Legislative District 19. The application was denied on the grounds that the petitioner had not been continuously registered to vote starting on or before Nov 4<sup>th</sup> 2013. Petitioner believed and maintains that the respondent inappropriately uses the definition of "qualified elector" in place of the term "elector" as used in the constitutional provision. Thus respondent interprets Article 3 Section 6 of the Idaho Constitution to require 1 full year of uninterrupted voter registration for inclusion on the general election ballot for legislative office. Petitioner believed and maintains that he met the constitutional qualifications for office and that the Respondent is creating additional requirements found neither in statute nor in the constitution. Namely, that in addition to meeting the constitutional definition of an elector by fulfilling requirements of age, citizenship, and residency, a legislative candidate must also have registered and thus become a "qualified elector" at least one year prior to the election.

Petitioner was informed on March 12<sup>th</sup> that Idaho Statute 34-215 allowed him the option of appealing the respondent's decision to the District Court. This notice contained no mention of a deadline for filing the appeal, and none was found in a review of the statute. Petitioner worked diligently to identify and exhaust any informal, administrative, and otherwise non-judicial means to resolve the issue. After a discussion on April 1<sup>st</sup> 2014 with Kriss Bivens Cloyd, (who is not an attorney, but was the only staff at the AG's office that petitioner was allowed access to)

petitioner decided that administrative remedies had been exhausted. Petitioner immediately turned to judicial remedies, and filed with the District Court 17 days later. At no time was petitioner informed that his right to appeal to the district court was the only available form of relief, or that there were no administrative remedies to exhaust.

Course of the Proceedings- A hearing was held on May 14<sup>th</sup>, 2014 at the District Court on petitioners appeal to the court to assess and correct respondent's use of the constitutional term "elector" in vetting candidates for state legislative office. Respondent argued that a writ could not be issued because an appeal under Statute 34-215 was an adequate remedy at law. Petitioner argued that the proceedings were in fact an appeal under Statute 34-215 as stated in the opening sentence of the petition and corroborated by the substance of the pleadings. Respondent maintained that even when viewing the petition as an appeal, it should be dismissed as untimely filed according to IRCP Rule 84(b). Petitioner asked the court to refer to Statute 67-5273 instead of Rule 84 to determine timeliness. Not taking into account Statute 67-5273, the Court ordered that the petition be dismissed, whether viewed as a writ of mandate or petition for judicial review. The writ would be dismissed for availability of other adequate remedies at law, and the appeal would be dismissed as untimely. It was not stated by the court why Rule 84 was given precedence over Statute.

Some arguments on the constitutional merits of the case were also heard, but the dismissal precluded a judgment on the merits. Empathy was expressed by the Court for the confusion created by the law, and it was suggested that the Secretary of State's Office appraise

the Legislature of this issue so that Idaho Code can be updated to remove the confusion caused by its variance from this interpretation of the Constitution.

#### **Statement of Facts**

#### Caption of the Appeal

A court evaluates a pleading by its substance not its caption. *State v. Blume* 743 P.2d 94 (1987) petitioner does not believe respondent disputes this fact, especially because they were the first to introduce it into the proceedings.

While the cause of the mislabeled appeal, accidentally captioned "Petition for Writ of Mandamus", was the result of confusion on the part of the Pro Se appellant, evaluating the pleading by its substance is standard procedure and no special leniency is being requested.

ICRP 84 is a "catch-all" rule; it governs the procedure of the District Court's judicial review only where statute is silent. Judicial review in this particular case is governed by Title 67 Chapter 52 Idaho Code which addresses most of the issues associated with judicial review including timeliness. Wherever possible the statute should be used instead of Rule 84.

Jurisdiction of this statute over the proceedings is addressed at great length in the arguments.

#### Exhaustion of non-judicial remedies

At the time petitioner received notice that he could appeal to the District Court, he was unfamiliar with the vocabulary and statutes surrounding exhaustion of administrative remedies. As a lay-person, he simply knew that it is wrong to use the judicial system as a first resort, and non-judicial remedies should be attempted before filing a case.

## Distinction of the terms "elector" and "qualified elector"

It should be noted that there is no disagreement between the parties that "registration as provided by law" is one of the substantive qualifications of a "qualified elector"; the issue in contention is the definition of "elector". Petitioner makes the argument that an "elector" holds every substantive qualification of a "qualified elector", *except* registration as provided by law. While respondent contends that the two terms are synonyms.

#### **Equal Protection**

Respondent has not claimed to have disqualified a single incumbent legislator from running for or holding office by authority of the same legal theory used to disqualify petitioner and many other non-incumbent candidates over the 40 years he has worked at the Secretary of State's office. While obviously not definitive by itself, this strongly suggests that the law may not have been applied equally to incumbent candidates and non-incumbent candidates alike. If incumbents have been subject to the same scrutiny as non-incumbents, there should either be instances of incumbent disqualification in the previous 40 years, or documented verification for

every legislator who has changed addresses while in office, that they did indeed update their voter registration within 30 days as required.

#### **Lack of Public Education Regarding Registration**

Because Idaho voter registration laws allow same day voter registration, it is not surprising that the petitioner, like many voting residents of the state, did not pre-register after he moved into the district, simply because Idaho law allows the state's electors to register to vote at the polls on Election day. Petitioner, and likely the majority of Idaho's qualified electors, had never heard or imagined that there are rights that could be forfeited due to technicalities regarding voter registration even if the right and ability to vote was never impeded.

#### These questions now come before this court:

- 1) Should time have tolled for petitioner's attempts to exhaust administrative remedies as stated in Idaho Statute 67-5273(3), or was it correct for time to continue running during petitioners attempts because those attempts did not meet the specific criteria found in IRCP Rule 84(b)?
- 2) Should the Secretary of State continue to interpret the Idaho Constitution to read that unlike other state offices, an elector must also have been continuously registered to vote for over a year in order to be an Idaho legislator?

#### **Issues Presented on Appeal**

- 1) Pleadings are a petition for judicial review: The District Court contemplated that the pleading denominated "petition for writ of mandamus" could be judged by its substance to be an appeal under Statute 34-215. The court offered two different reasons for its dismissal of the petition, one that applied to the pleadings as a petition for mandamus, and another which applied to the pleadings as an appeal for judicial review. It is an issue on this appeal that the original pleadings should be evaluated by their substance rather than by their captions, and therefore treated as pleadings for judicial review rather than an extraordinary writ.
- 2) **Timeliness is addressed and governed by statute:** The District Court erred by ignoring Idaho Statute 67-5273 and instead relying on IRCP 84(b), a "catch-all" rule to determine the timeliness of the appeal. Appellant asserts that the catch-all rule is superseded by this statute, and it is the statute not the rule that should have been used to determine timeliness. Accordingly, the court's decision regarding timeliness should not have been affected by the very specific language of Rule 84 requiring a "motion for reconsideration" and time should have tolled by statute for "the pendency of the petitioner's timely attempts to exhaust administrative remedies", consisting of the 20 days from March 12<sup>th</sup> to April 1<sup>st</sup> 2014.

- 3) **Even according to the "catch-all" rule time should have tolled:** Even if the Court is somehow compelled to apply IRCP 84(b) when considering the timeliness of the appeal, time should have tolled for petitioners attempts to exhaust administrative remedies.
- 4) Statutory and Constitutional merits should be ruled on: Because the District Court did not reach the merits of the statutory and constitutional issue, stating that it would be best served to be addressed by another court in a position to set precedent, it becomes an issue to this appeal that the court should reach the merits of the case and issue an opinion clarifying for the Secretary of State's Office, and all Idaho citizens, the constitutional qualifications required to work as an Idaho legislator. Any and all unlisted issues and arguments related to the statutory and constitutional merits of the case shall be considered subsidiaries of this issue.

#### **Arguments**

- 1. The original pleadings should be evaluated by their substance rather than by their captions, and therefore should be viewed and treated as pleadings for judicial review rather than for an extraordinary writ.
  - 1.1. A court evaluates a pleading by its substance not its caption. In *State v Blume* 743 P.2d 94 (1987) the Court says "Although Blume's pleading was denominated a petition for a writ of review rather than for a writ of prohibition, we evaluate a pleading by its substance rather than by its caption. The substance, as we view it, was that Blume

- wanted the district court to determine that Judge Heise was disqualified and no longer had jurisdiction in the case." The Court gives a great amount of deference to both the intent of the author, and the substance of the document, over its caption.
- 1.2. Opposing Council recognized that appellant's pleadings may be evaluated by their substance rather than their caption and be viewed as an appeal under Statute 34-215.
  - 1.2.1. At the hearing, respondent stated "...we can treat the papers as mislabeled and they actually are an appeal..." (Tr Vol. I, p. 16, L. 9-14)
  - 1.2.2. The entirety of pages 4 and 5 of MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF SECRETARY OF STATE'S MOTION TO DISMISS address the petitioner's pleadings viewing them as an appeal under Idaho Statute 34-215. In fact, respondent has not sited any authorities or made any argument that the pleadings should be evaluated by their captions.
- 1.3. The District Court contemplated that the pleading denominated "petition for writ of mandamus" could be judged by its substance to be an appeal under Statute 34-215, but declined to commit the Court to stating whether or not it indeed viewed the pleading as a petition for judicial review. (Tr Vol. I, p. 36, L. 12-20) The court made no mention of statutes, rules, or authorities that suggest the pleadings should be evaluated by their caption.
- 1.4. The petition was initially mislabeled due to a simple misunderstanding, early on in the process appellant was misinformed that a "Writ of Mandamus" was the designation for any order from the courts compelling a state officer to perform a specific act. Appellant

used the term in the context of his then erroneous understanding of it, as is illustrated by some confusion at the hearing. Tr Vol. I, p. 11, L. 14-21, Tr Vol. I, p. 30, L. 12-13 In using the term, appellant did not intend to refer to an extraordinary writ, or anything outside the scope of an appeal under Statute 34-215. The Substance and intent of the pleadings are clearly in line with an appeal for judicial review, and not an extraordinary writ.

- 1.5. Viewing these pleadings by their substance as a petition for judicial review should not be confused with allowing a writ to function as the equivalent of an appeal as the court contemplated Tr Vol. I, p. 36, L. 9-12. If the pleadings are judged by their substance, than there is no writ in these proceedings; it is simply a mislabeled appeal functioning as an appeal.
  - 1.5.1. For a writ to function as the equivalent of an appeal, it would first have to be judged by its substance to be a writ.
- 2. Procedures governing the original appeal for judicial review are in fact provided by statute; these procedures provided by statute supersede the IRCP Rule 84 and nullify the application of that rule to determine timeliness. The conclusions reached by the district court utilizing Rule 84 must be set aside and the issues must be reconsidered utilizing the statute.
  - 2.1. Procedures governing judicial review are set by statute; only where no procedure or standard of review is provided by statute does the "Catch-all" rule, IRCP Rule 84, apply. While this case is authorized by Idaho Statute 34-215, the judicial review proceedings are also described and governed by Title 67 Chapter 52 Idaho Code. Since the

procedure and standards of review are provided by statute, IRCP Rule 84 does not apply and has no bearing on determinations of timeliness. The following definitions and authorities from Title 67 Chapter 52 Idaho Code clearly designate these proceedings as a judicial review of agency action to be governed by the provisions of this statute, not Rule 84.

- 2.1.1. 67-5201(2) "Agency" means each state board, commission, department or officer authorized by law to make rules or to determine contested cases, but does not include the legislative or judicial branches, executive officers listed in section 1, article IV, of the constitution of the state of Idaho in the exercise of powers derived directly and exclusively from the constitution, the state militia or the state board of correction.
  - 2.1.1.1. While the Respondent is one of the executive officers listed in section1, article 4, of the Idaho constitution, the powers delegated to the State's Chief Elections Officer are not derived directly or exclusively from the constitution, but rather from Statute 34-201. The Respondent fits the definition of an "Agency" enumerated in this Statute.
- 2.1.2. 67-5201(3) "Agency action" means:
  - (a) The whole or part of a rule or order;
  - (b) The failure to issue a rule or order; or
  - (c) An agency's performance of, or failure to perform, any duty placed on it by law.
  - 2.1.2.1. The respondent's improper denial of appellant's application to be included on the 2014 general election ballot meets this statute's definition of "Agency Action" under 67-5201(3)(c).

- 2.1.3. 67-5270 RIGHT OF REVIEW (1) Judicial review of agency action shall be governed by the provisions of this chapter unless other provision of law is applicable to the particular matter.
  - 2.1.3.1. Idaho Statute 34-215 contains some specific provisions applicable to particular matters in this judicial review, such as the right of either party to appeal the District Court decision to the State Supreme Court, and the guarantee that the remedy provided in this statute is cumulative and does not exclude any other remedy provided by law. Aside from these and any other such applicable provisions, this judicial review of agency action is governed by Title 67 Chapter 52 Idaho Code and there is no allowance or authority for IRCP Rule 84 to take precedence over the procedures codified in statute.
- 2.2. The District Court erred by applying IRCP Rule 84 to determine timeliness of the appeal; timeliness is addressed by Idaho Statute 67-5273(3):
  - 2.2.1. 67-5273(3) A petition for judicial review of a final agency action other than a rule or order must be filed within twenty-eight (28) days of the agency action, except as provided by other provision of law. The time for filing a petition for review shall be extended during the pendency of the petitioner's timely attempts to exhaust administrative remedies, if the attempts are clearly not frivolous or repetitious.
- 3. Appellant was engaged in efforts to identify and exhaust administrative remedies from March 12<sup>th</sup> through April 1<sup>st</sup> 2014 and time for filing the original appeal should have tolled for these attempts in accordance with Idaho Statute 67-5273(3)
  - 3.1. *Petersen v. Franklin County*, 938 P.2d 1214, clearly addressed the tolling of time for good faith attempts to exhaust administrative remedies. Like the current appellant, the

landowners in the Petersen case also had no administrative remedies available to them, and also were not informed that they had no administrative remedies available to them. These appellants spent 51 days attempting to exhaust administrative remedies until they were informed that none existed. Time was found to toll for their misinformed and futile attempts, and the same should be found for this Appellant who used only 20 days for his attempts.

3.1.1. The court's written decision in *Petersen v. Franklin County supra*, stated the following:

"Although the determination of a site was made at the January 26, 1994 meeting of the Commission, the time during which the Landowners could file a timely petition for judicial review of the Commission's site selection was tolled while they attempted to exhaust their administrative remedies. The Landowners continued their efforts with the Commission until they were informed that their administrative remedies had been exhausted on March 17, 1994. The Landowners timely filed their petition for judicial review on April 1, 1994, well within a twenty-eight (28) day period beginning March 17, 1994."

3.1.2. In hearing *Petersen v. Franklin County*, the following exchange occurred between Justice Johnson and counsel for the County.

**Johnson, J.:** Were there any administrative remedies available to these plaintiffs after January 26, 1994, to challenge the selection?

Hall: No.

- 3.1.2.1. Similar to the appellant in the current case, there were never any administrative remedies available for the landowners. The fact that the court found time to toll for 51 days during the pendency of their attempts to exhaust administrative remedies- even though no such remedies ever existed, shows that factors including the likelihood of successful remedy, actual availability of remedies, and procedural steps followed in the attempts are not considered when determining the tolling of time.
- 3.1.2.2. The District Court seemed to put a significant amount of consideration into the type of attempts made by appellant, the processes and procedure of the attempts, their likelihood of success, and who the attempts were directed at influencing; statute is clear though, none of these factors have any bearing on whether or not time tolls. If attempts are made and those attempts are clearly not frivolous or repetitious, statute provides that time will toll.
- 3.1.3. Idaho Code gives only 2 reasons that time might not toll for the appellant's attempts at administrative remedies; those are if the attempts are found to be "frivolous" or "repetitious". Idaho Statute. 67-5273 (3).
  - 3.1.3.1. The appellant's attempts to achieve administrative remedy through the AG's office cannot be found to be "frivolous" because they were partially effective.
    - 3.1.3.1.1. The documents at the center of this case, which were filed by the appellant in his effort to register as a candidate for legislative office, and

were rejected by the Respondent on March 12<sup>th</sup> included "Form C-1 Appointment and Certification of Political Treasurer". There has been no directive from the courts for the Respondent to accept and file Form C-1 from the appellant. Yet based on a statement from the Attorney General's Office obtained by the appellant, this form was accepted and filed by the Respondent on June 6<sup>th</sup> 2014. This change in position from the respondent's office shows good cause for the appellant's belief that administrative relief could be obtained through efforts to seek clarification from the AG's office.

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