UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-5-2014

Hansen v. Denney Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42285

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

This is a FINAL JUDGMENT on all issues in this case from which an appeal may taken as provided by the Idaho Appellate Rules.

R., pp. 83-84.³ Mr. Hansen timely appealed on July 8, 2014, forty-one days after Judgment was filed with the Clerk. R., pp. 85-87.

³ The District Court's Order and Judgment preceded the adoption of the current version of Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54(a), which became effective July 1, 2014. Rule 54(a) now requires judgments to begin with the words: "JUDGMENT IS ENTERED AS FOLLOWS:"

The words used by the District Court in the first paragraph of the judgment above are similar in concept to the current requirement of Rule 54(a), but are not identical.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

This appeal presents the following issues:

(1) Mootness. (a) Is the appeal from the District Court moot and subject to dismissal because no relief can now be provided regarding the general election of November 4, 2014?, or

(b) should the appeal be decided under one or more exceptions to the mootness rule, *i.e.*:

(i) the appeal presents issues capable of repetition but evading review, and/or

(ii) the appeal presents issues of substantial public importance?

(2) Procedure — Appeal and Mandamus. If the appeal is not dismissed as moot,

(a) did Mr. Hansen timely appeal the Secretary of State's denial of a place on the ballot?,

(b) was he exhausting administrative remedies and entitled to additional time for appeal when he contacted the Office of the Attorney General?, and/or

(c) may he seek a writ of mandamus to compel the Secretary of State to place him on the ballot if he did not timely appeal from the Secretary of State's decision?

(3) Qualifications for the Ballot. If the preceding issues are not dispositive, must a would-be candidate for State Legislature be a registered voter for at least one year before the general election in the district in which he seeks office in order to qualify for the ballot?

ATTORNEYS' FEES ON APPEAL

The Secretary of State does *not* seek attorneys' fees on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. The Issues on Appeal Are Moot, But Are Capable of Repetition and Evading Review and/or Are of Substantial Public Importance, So the Appeal Should Not Be Dismissed as Moot

The Appellant's Brief does not discuss mootness. The general election of November 4,

2014, is over; thus, Mr. Hansen's claim of a right to appear on that ballot for that election is

moot. The general rule is that the Court dismisses moot issues:

This Court may dismiss an appeal when ... the case involves only a moot question. A case becomes moot when the issues presented are no longer live A case is moot if it presents no justiciable controversy and a judicial determination will have no practical effect upon the outcome.

Stephen v. Sallaz & Gatewood, Chtd., 150 Idaho 521, 528, 248 P.3d 1256, 1263 (2011) (citations

omitted). However, moot issues need not be dismissed

(1) when there is the possibility of collateral legal consequences imposed on the person raising the issue; (2) when the challenged conduct is likely to evade judicial review and thus is capable of repetition; and (3) when an otherwise moot issue raises concerns of substantial public interest.

Stephen, 150 Idaho at 528, 248 P.3d at 1263 (citation and internal punctuation omitted). As explained in Parts I.A and I.B of this argument, pp. 6-10, the second and third of Idaho's three exceptions to the general rule for dismissal of moot appeals apply here. Thus, the Court may rule on the moot issues presented by this appeal.

A. Ballot Disqualification Is Capable of Repetition But Evading Review

There are two parts to the second exception to the mootness doctrine: (1) The issue is capable of repetition, and (2) the issue evades review. Both are present here.

First, the issue of disqualification of would-be Legislative candidates for failure to be a qualified elector (registered voter) in the candidate's Legislative District for a year before the

general election is recurring. Affidavit of Secretary of State Ysursa (twelve candidates have been similarly disqualified in the 2006-2014 election cycles). R., p. 67. Likewise, issues of the proper procedure to challenge the Secretary of State's disqualification of a candidate from the ballot are recurring. *E.g., Yost v. Ysursa*, Supreme Court Docket No. 35234 (2008) (application for original writ in Supreme Court to be placed on the ballot denied) (no published decision).

Second, recurring election issues evade appellate review. Would-be candidates cannot be disqualified before filing their candidacy papers with the Secretary of State; ballot qualification issues become moot upon creation of the ballot. As explained below, the period from filing to creation of the general election ballot is at most about 6¹/₂ months and in this case was 179 days.

Primary elections are held on the third Tuesday of May in even numbered years. Idaho Code § 34-601(1). Candidates for State Senator and State Representative must file Declarations of Candidacy during a two-business-week period beginning the twelfth Monday before the primary election and ending the tenth Friday before the election. Idaho Code § 34-704 (timelines for party candidates to file for primary election), § 34-708 (independent candidates have same timelines). Under these statutes, May 15 is the earliest date on which a primary election can be held; February 26 (or February 27 in leap years) is the earliest date for filing Declarations of Candidacy in such a year. May 21 is the latest date on which a primary election can be held; March 15 is the latest date for filing in such a year. Thus, a Declaration of Candidacy could be filed as early as February 26 or as late as March 15.

General elections for State Senator and State Representative are held on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November in even numbered years. Idaho Code § 34-601(2) (date of general election); § 34-614 (State Senators and State Representatives run in general election). The Secretary of State must prepare sample ballots for the county clerks by September 7. Idaho Code § 34-903 (Secretary of State to prepare sample ballots), § 34-909 (deadline for preparation

of sample ballots). Sample ballots are prepared long in advance of the general election because ballots must be available for absentee military voting 45 days before the election. Idaho Code § 34-1002; 42 U.S.C. § 20302(a)(8) (formerly § 1973ff-2) (military absentee ballots must be mailed at least 45 days before election if requested more than 45 days before election).

It is 193 days from February 26 (the earliest possible day to file a Declaration of Candidacy for Legislative office) to September 7 (the deadline for preparing sample ballots). It is 176 days from March 15 (the latest possible day to file) to September 7.⁴ Thus, whether the issues in this appeal are (1) the proper procedure to challenge the Secretary of State's denial of a place on the ballot, or (2) the grounds upon which a would-be candidate for the Legislature may be denied a place on the ballot, the Court may rely on its own experience to conclude that 176 to 193 days is insufficient time for first the District Court, then the Supreme Court, to review the Secretary of State's decision and that these issues are capable of repetition but evading appellate review. Thus, this exception to the mootness rule applies.⁵

B. Election Issues Are of Substantial Public Importance

Several sections of the Idaho Constitution address qualifications for office,⁶ and Article

Article IV, § 3, includes many qualifications for constitutional executive offices:

⁴ In 2014 the primary election was held on Tuesday, May 20, 2014. The first date for candidate filing was Monday, March 3, 2014; the last date was Friday, March 14, 2014. It was 179 days from the Chief Deputy Secretary of State's March 12, 2014 letter to Mr. Hansen until September 7, 2014

⁵ If a would-be candidate is denied a place on the primary election ballot, the time line would of course be much more compressed because the primary election is held in May.

⁶ Article III, § 6, provides the following qualifications for Senators and Representatives:

^{§ 6.} Qualifications of members. — No person shall be a senator or representative who ... is not a citizen of the United States, and an elector of this state, nor anyone who has not been for one year next preceding his election an elector of the county or district whence he may be chosen.

^{§ 3.} Qualifications of officers. — No person shall be eligible to the office of governor or lieutenant governor unless he shall have attained the age of thirty years at the time of his election; nor to the office of secretary of state, state controller, or state treasurer, unless he shall have attained the age of twenty-five years; nor to the office of attorney general

VI of the Idaho Constitution is devoted exclusively to elections and suffrage. The prominence of these issues in the Constitution shows their substantial public importance. Further, case law has long noted the importance of election-related issues. *E.g., Weldon v. Bonner County Tax Coalition*, 124 Idaho 31, 37, 855 P.2d 868, 874 (1993), *rev'd on other grounds, City of Boise City v. Keep the Commandments Coalition*, 143 Idaho 254, 141 P.3d 1123 (2006) (critical issue of scope of referendum and initiative power taken up because it presented important undecided issue of law); *Keenan v. Price*, 68 Idaho 423, 429, 195 P.2d 662, 664 (1948) (would-be candidate's claim of right to appear on the ballot taken up because it was important issue). These authorities show the public importance of issues regarding qualifications for office and of elections in general. The public importance exception to mootness also applies.

Article V, § 18, provides the following qualifications for Prosecuting Attorneys:

Article V, § 23, provides the following qualifications for district judges:

§ 23. Qualifications of district judges. — No person shall be eligible to the office of district judge unless he be learned in the law, thirty years of age, and a citizen of the United States, and shall have resided in the state ... at least two years next preceding his election, nor unless he shall have been at the time of his election, an elector in the judicial district for which he is elected.

Mr. Hansen laments that with Idaho's same-day voter registration "[He], and likely the majority of Idaho's qualified electors, never heard or imagined that there are rights that could be forfeited due to technicalities regarding voter registration even if the right and ability to vote was never impeded." App. Br., p. 9. The sections excerpted above show that what Mr. Hansen calls "technicalities" for holding office were important to the Delegates to the Idaho Constitutional Convention; they required more civic engagement with one's own community to run for office than they did to vote.

unless he shall have attained the age of thirty years, and have been admitted to practice in the Supreme Court ... of Idaho, and be in good standing at the time of his election. In addition ... each of the officers named shall be a citizen of the United States and shall have resided within the state ... two years next preceding his election.

^{§ 18.} Prosecuting attorneys — Term of office — Qualifications. — A prosecuting attorney ... shall be a practicing attorney at law, and a resident and elector of the county for which he is elected. ...

II. Idaho Code § 34-215 Provided a Plain, Speedy and Adequate Remedy at Law From Ballot Disqualification; Mandamus Was Not Available When No Timely Appeal Was Filed

This section of the brief first examines in turn the law of appeals to the District Court, of

exhaustion of administrative remedies, and of mandamus.

A. Appeals from the Secretary of State to the District Court Must Be Timely Filed; the District Court Properly Dismissed the Appeal as Untimely

Idaho Code § 34-215 provides a right of appeal to District Court from the Secretary of

State's disqualification of a would-be candidate from the ballot:

34-215. Appeals by aggrieved persons. — (1) Any person adversely affected by any act or failure to act by the secretary of state ... under any election law, or by any order ... directive or instruction made under the authority of the secretary of state ... under any election law, may appeal therefrom to the district court

...

(4) The remedy provided in this section is cumulative and does not exclude any other remedy provided by law against any act or failure to act by the secretary of state ... under any election law or against any order ... directive or instruction made under the authority of the secretary of state ... under any election law.

No section in Title 34 provides a deadline for appeal under § 34-215. There are two "default" provisions of law with deadlines for appeal from executive action when the appeal statute is silent: (1) Idaho Code § 67-5273,⁷ the section of the Administrative Procedure Act

(3) A petition for judicial review of a final agency action other than a rule or order

⁷ Idaho Code § 67-5273 provides:

^{§ 67-5273.} Time for filing petition for review. — (1) A petition for judicial review of a temporary or final rule may be filed at any time \dots .

⁽²⁾ A petition for judicial review of a final order \dots must be filed within twenty-eight (28) days of the service date of the final order \dots , or, if reconsideration is sought, within twenty-eight (28) days after the service date of the decision thereon. \dots

(APA) with deadlines for judicial review of agency actions under the APA, and (2) Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 84(b),⁸ which applies when no statute prescribes a different appeal period. The Court need not decide which of these catch-all provisions governs here because they both provide the same answer: The twenty-eight-day time for appeal began to run on March 12, 2014, when the Chief Deputy Secretary of State notified Mr. Hansen in writing that he would not be on the ballot and could appeal under § 34-215; the appeal time expired four weeks later on April 9, 2014. Mr. Hansen did not file in District Court until nine days later, on April 18, 2014. R., p. 1. Thus, the District Court's dismissal of the appeal as untimely should be affirmed.

B. Contacts with the Office of the Attorney General Did Not Exhaust Administrative Remedies and Did Not Delay the Time for Appeal

Mr. Hansen argues that § 67-5273(3) applies to his appeal and that it extended the time

for appeal while he was pursuing administrative remedies. App.Br., pp. 5-6, 15. He contends that his discussions with the Attorney General's Office were an attempt to exhaust administrative

must be filed within twenty-eight (28) days of the agency action, except as provided by other provision of law. The time for filing a petition for review shall be extended during the pendency of the petitioner's timely attempts to exhaust administrative remedies, if the attempts are clearly not frivolous or repetitious. ...

Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 84(b) provides:

8

84(b). Filing Petition for Judicial Review.

(1) Unless a different time or procedure is prescribed by statute, a petition for judicial review from an agency to district court must be filed with the appropriate district court within twenty-eight (28) days after the agency action is ripe for judicial review under the statute authorizing judicial review, but the time for filing a petition for judicial review is extended as provided in the next sentence. When the decision to be reviewed is issued by an agency with authority to reconsider its decision, the running of the time for petition for judicial review is suspended by a timely motion for reconsideration ... Judicial review is commenced by filing a petition for judicial review with the district court... ...

Mr. Hansen says without any citation of authority that "the Secretary of State has authority to reconsider the decisions of his office," \P 4, App.Br., p. 19, so Mr. Hansen was entitled to Rule 84(b)'s provisions regarding reconsideration and tolling. App.Br., p. 19. However, Mr. Hansen did not file any formal motion for reconsideration with the Secretary of State, so there was no tolling under Rule 84(b)'s reconsideration provision.

remedies. App. Br., pp. 5-6, 10-11, 15-20. They were not.

Mr. Hansen's argument fails because it was the Secretary of State's decision that he appealed, not the Attorney General's. No statute gives the Attorney General remedial authority over the Secretary of State's decisions. Section 67-5273(3) is not explicit that the administrative remedies that must be exhausted are remedies before the officer or agency whose decision will be reviewed by the District Court, but that proposition is implicit. The purpose of exhaustion is to allow the agency or officer that made the decision to review (and if necessary correct) its decision as provided by statute, not to persuade a second officer or agency to overrule the first, and the case law refers to remedies before the agency that made the decision, not remedies before other agencies or officers:

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